IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

FEDERAL HOUSING FINANCE AGENCY, in its capacity as Conservator for the Federal National Mortgage Association, and FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION,	Electronically Filed Dec 07 2021 08:11 p.m. Case No. 8369€lizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
Appellants,	
vs.	
WESTLAND LIBERTY VILLAGE, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Company; and WESTLAND VILLAGE SQUARE, LLC a Nevada Limited Liability Company,	

Respondents.

APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Kerry Earley and Mark Denton, District Court Judges Case No. A-20-819412-C

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Court has jurisdiction over this appeal under NRAP 3A(b)(3).

On November 20, 2020, the district court entered Westland Liberty Village, LLC's and Westland Village Square, LLC's (together, "Westland" or "Defendants") proposed written order for a preliminary injunction. The injunction covers not only plaintiff the Federal National Mortgage Association ("Fannie Mae"), but also non-party "Enjoined Parties," including "persons exercising or having control over the affairs of Fannie Mae," which necessarily includes the Federal Housing Finance Agency ("FHFA") in its role as Fannie Mae's Conservator. APP2613 ¶ 1. On June 14, 2021, FHFA—having intervened in the district court proceedings—moved to dissolve the preliminary injunction. On September 17, 2021, the district court entered an order denying the motion; the Notice of Entry of Order was filed on September 22, 2021. APP3445-54.

FHFA timely noticed this appeal on October 21, 2021. APP3455-64; *see* NRAP 4(a)(1) (notice of appeal must be filed "no later than 30 days after the date that written notice of entry of the judgment or order appealed from is served").

Х

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Court should retain this proceeding under NRAP 17(a)(9) because it originated in Business Court; under NRAP (a)(11) because it raises as a principal issue a question of first impression in Nevada state courts under the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution in the application of 12 U.S.C. § 4617(f); and under NRAP 17(a)(12) because a principal issue involves a question of statewide public importance as to whether a district court may enjoin FHFA and Fannie Mae from conducting Fannie Mae's operations while in conservatorship, in contravention of 12 U.S.C. § 4617(f).

INTRODUCTION

This appeal arises out of a suit Fannie Mae brought to enforce its security interests in two large apartment complexes in Las Vegas by seeking appointment of a receiver as allowed under the applicable deeds of trust in the event of defaults of the mortgage loans. The district court denied Fannie Mae's motion to appoint a receiver and instead granted Defendants' request for a preliminary injunction. The injunction prohibits Fannie Mae and other "Enjoined Parties," including FHFA as Fannie Mae's Conservator, from foreclosing on Defendants' properties, from implementing loan-administration and other actions that concern not only Defendants' two Las Vegas properties but also properties, loans, or loan applications of "any Westland entity," of which there are many, regardless of location inside or outside of Nevada or whether such entity is a party to the action. After intervening, FHFA moved to dissolve the injunction under 12 U.S.C. § 4617(f), but the district court refused.

Under federal law, that injunction cannot stand. Specifically, the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008 ("HERA") mandates that "no court may take any action to restrain or affect the exercise of powers or functions of [FHFA] as a conservator" 12 U.S.C. § 4617(f). Precluding

1

the Conservator and Fannie Mae from administering these loans as set out in the governing loan agreements—including declaring them to be in default and pursuing foreclosure—and from dealing with other unnamed Westland entities and properties unrelated to the loans at issue herein restrains and affects several of the Conservator's core powers. Those most directly affected include the powers to operate Fannie Mae, to preserve its assets, and to collect debts it is owed; the injunction effectively negates them as to this case. Thus, Section 4617(f)—a preemptive federal law—renders the preliminary injunction void *ab initio*.

The Court should reverse the district court's order refusing to dissolve the injunction, declare the injunction void, and direct the district court not to issue any relief that would restrain or affect the exercise of FHFA's statutory powers and functions as Fannie Mae's Conservator.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Did the district court err in not dissolving an injunction issued in contravention of 12 U.S.C. § 4617(f), a federal law that bars courts from imposing an injunction on FHFA as Conservator of Fannie Mae and the Fannie Mae conservatorship?

 $\mathbf{2}$

II. Is the limitation on injunctive relief in 12 U.S.C. § 4617(f), which provides that "no court may take any action to restrain or affect the exercise of powers or functions of the Agency as a conservator," a jurisdictional bar rendering the subject injunction void *ab initio*?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the district court's denial of intervenor FHFA's motion to dissolve a preliminary injunction issued by the district court. On November 20, 2020, the district court entered an order granting Defendants' motion for a preliminary injunction. Thereafter, FHFA intervened in this case and moved to dissolve the preliminary injunction and Fannie Mae joined the motion. On September 17, 2021, the district court entered an order denying FHFA's motion to dissolve the injunction. This appeal ensued, and on November 17, 2021, this Court issued its Order Removing Appeal from Settlement Program and Ordering Expedited Briefing.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

I. Fannie Mae Under FHFA's Conservatorship

Congress chartered Fannie Mae to facilitate the nationwide secondary mortgage market to enhance the equitable distribution of mortgage credit throughout the nation. See 12 U.S.C. § 1716; City of Spokane v. Fannie Mae, 775 F.3d 1113, 1114 (9th Cir. 2014). HERA established FHFA as the primary regulator of Fannie Mae and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("Freddie Mac") (together, "the Enterprises").

In September 2008, FHFA's Director placed the Enterprises into conservatorships, where they remain today. See 12 U.S.C. § 4617(a). As Conservator, FHFA succeeded to "all [of Fannie Mae's] rights, titles, privileges" regarding powers, and its 12U.S.C. property, § 4617(b)(2)(A)(i), and has authority to "preserve and conserve the assets and property of [Fannie Mae]," id. § 4617(b)(2)(B)(iv); "collect all obligations and money due" Fannie Mae, id. § 4617(b)(2)(B)(ii); "take over the assets of and operate [Fannie Mae]," id. § 4617(b)(2)(B)(i); "conduct all business of [Fannie Mae]," id.; and "perform all functions of [Fannie Mae] in the name of [Fannie Mae]," id. § 4617(b)(2)(B)(iii).

HERA provides that "no court may take any action to restrain or affect the exercise of powers or functions of [FHFA] as a conservator." *Id.* § 4617(f).

II. The Litigation

A. Fannie Mae's Initial Claim

Fannie Mae sued Westland, after a severe drop in occupancy followed by an inspection of Westland's two multi-family properties ("the Properties") revealed that they needed \$2.8 million in necessary repairs. APP0526; APP0834. The loan documents, under which Westland owes more than \$37 million, explicitly provide that: (i) Fannie Mae has a right to inspect the Properties and a right to demand an increase in reserves to address property condition issues, and (ii) Westland's failure to increase the reserve upon such a demand constitutes a default. APP0085-86, 0289-90 (§ 6.02(d)); APP0118, 0322 (§ 13.02(a)(4)); APP0125-26, APP0329-30 (§ 14.01). They further provide that Fannie Mae is entitled to the appointment of a receiver upon default. APP0209-10, 0472-76(§ 3(e)).

Here, Fannie Mae exercised its rights to demand that Westland deposit \$2.8 million in reserves for the Properties, but Westland did not do so. Accordingly, Fannie Mae initiated this action and applied for the appointment of a receiver to protect its security interests.

B. Westland's Request for a Preliminary Injunction

Westland opposed the Application for Appointment of Receiver and filed a Counter-Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and/or Preliminary Injunction ("Countermotion") seeking to prevent Fannie Mae from foreclosing on the Properties. Specifically, Westland requested that the court "prevent[] and enjoin[] Plaintiff from conducting any foreclosure proceedings, foreclosure sale, or appointing a receiver related to the Properties pending a determination of the rights and obligations of the parties pursuant to the [l]oan [a]greements." APP1448.

After hearing argument on October 13, 2020, the district court

stated:

Here is my ruling on the Plaintiff's Motion for Appointment of Receiver. I feel there is a factual dispute on whether there is a default by defendant [sic] in this case, so there is no mandatory statute that says I must ... appoint a receiver, as I feel there is a dispute, a factual dispute whether there is or is not a default.... I'm denying it.

As far as the Defendants' Countermotion for a Preliminary Injunction Regarding the Notice of the Foreclosure, I applied the [Rule] 65 standard as well as the NRS -- what's the other one? I always -- 33.010 standard. I do find that, at this point, there is irreparable harm and that standard is met because it is property. I also find that there is a reasonable probability of success on the merits as far as what -- there's a question of fact as to whether there was a default, etcetera.

APP2546-47.

The court clarified that its ruling would only prohibit Fannie Mae from moving forward with foreclosure, and would not otherwise constrain its relations with Westland: "T'm stopping Fannie Mae from going forward with anything based on that Notice of Default" APP2548. The court also declined to make factual findings or legal conclusions because it concluded a factual dispute appeared on the record. APP2601-02.

Despite the limited scope of the ruling the district court articulated at the hearing, Westland tendered a proposed order imposing expansive relief neither sought in Westland's Countermotion nor addressed at argument. In addition to the ruling the district court had announced denying the appointment of a receiver and enjoining any progress toward foreclosure—the proposed written order included a litany of injunctive relief that Westland had not previously requested, briefed, or argued. Specifically, the proposed order directed the Enjoined Parties¹ to:

¹ The proposed order defines "Enjoined Parties" as "Fannie Mae, including, without limitation, Fannie Mae's servicers, agents, affiliates, representatives, officers, managers, directors, shareholders, members, Footnote continued on next page

- "[R]emove[] from the title" of the Properties the Notices of Default and Election to Sell that had been recorded on July 8, 2020;
- Service the Westland loans in particular ways (e.g., "turn over to Westland the monthly debt service invoices for the Property," "process loan payments consistent with the terms of the loan agreement");
- Return funds Westland voluntarily paid "in excess of the nondefault monthly debt service payments, which excess funds Westland paid between February 2020 and the present";
- Disburse loan collateral held in the Restoration Reserve Account, which totals more than \$900,000;
- "[R]etract[] or strike[]" the Notice of Demand;
- Rescind the Notices of Default and Acceleration of Note, dated December 17, 2019; and
- Treat unspecified Westland entities—which are not parties to the action—favorably in relation to other or new loans, by

partners, trustees, and other persons exercising or having control over the affairs of Fannie Mae." APP2613 \P 1.

not "tak[ing] any adverse action against any Westland entity in relation to other loans, [or] discriminat[ing] against or blacklist[ing] any Westland entity on new loan or loan refinancing applications," including by "adding a fee to any loan quoted or adding an interest rate surcharge to such applications" regardless of business or regulatory necessity.

APP2613-16 ¶¶ 5(b), (e), (h), (o). Over Fannie Mae's objection, the court entered Westland's proposed order.

C. FHFA's Intervention and the Court's Denial of FHFA's Motion to Dissolve the Preliminary Injunction

After the preliminary injunction had been entered, FHFA intervened and promptly moved to dissolve the preliminary injunction ("Motion to Dissolve"), arguing that the injunction was void *ab initio* because Section 4617(f) deprived the district court of jurisdiction to grant it. APP3028-37; APP3008-22.

Following briefing on the motion, the district court heard oral argument on August 2, 2021, and on August 10, 2021, issued a oneparagraph minute order denying the motion and directing defendants' counsel to draft an order. APP3438. The district court followed up with a written order on September 17, 2021, stating that the district court was "unpersuaded that dissolution of the subject preliminary injunction is warranted" in light of purportedly "extensive development of the issues" earlier in the district court proceedings—despite neither Section 4617(f) nor any other jurisdictional issue having been raised until FHFA's Motion to Dissolve—and because the injunction "is now the subject of extensive litigation on [Fannie Mae's] pending [interlocutory] appeal" of the order granting the preliminary injunction, which predated FHFA's involvement in the case and any assertion or discussion of Section 4617(f) in the action. APP3439-44.² This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An order resolving a motion to dissolve an injunction is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *E.g.*, *Finkel v. Cashman Prof'l*, *Inc.*, 128 Nev. 68, 72-73 (2012). A district court abuses its discretion when it "disregards controlling law." *E.g.*, *Shores v. Glob. Experience Specialists, Inc.*, 134 Nev. 503, 505 (2018).

² FHFA moved to intervene into Fannie Mae's interlocutory appeal, but this Court denied the motion, leaving FHFA to participate as a nonparty amicus instead.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In refusing to dissolve the preliminary injunction, the district court disregarded controlling federal law—Section 4617(f)—and thereby abused its discretion.

Under Section 4617(f), "no court may take any action to restrain or affect the exercise of powers or functions of [FHFA] as a conservator." 12 U.S.C. § 4617(f). By enacting that provision, Congress "sharply circumscribed judicial review of any action that the FHFA takes as a conservator," leaving the Conservator's "business decisions ... protected from judicial review." *Collins v. Yellen*, 141 S. Ct. 1761, 1775, 1785 (2021).

Here, the district court's injunction directly impacts the Conservator's exercise of its core statutory powers and functions, including the power to "operate" Fannie Mae, to "perform all functions of [Fannie Mae] in the name of [Fannie Mae]," to "collect all obligations and money due" Fannie Mae, and to take any action "appropriate to carry on the business of [Fannie Mae]." 12 U.S.C. §§ 4617(b)(2)(B), 4617(b)(2)(D). The injunction therefore conflicts directly with Section 4617(f).

11

Section 4617(f) applies regardless of whether the injunction purports to constrain the Conservator itself or only FHFA's conservatee, Fannie Mae. And Section 4617(f)'s plain language includes no exception for particular kinds of claims, for restraints on actions yet to be taken, or for business decisions that might be unnecessary, debatable, or even Because Section 4617(f) so clearly and directly articulates a unwise. broad bar against enjoining the Conservator's exercise of its powers and functions, arguments about the practical consequences of applying the statute at face value—including overblown and implausible parades of horribles—are beside the point. But even if the policy underlying Section 4617(f) were relevant, it is sound—federal conservators and receivers of large and complex financial institutions must be able to act swiftly and decisively without judicial interference, and regardless of the local jurisdiction in which an issue may arise.

FHFA properly raised Section 4617(f) by moving to dissolve the injunction, regardless of whether Fannie Mae could have asserted the statute earlier. Section 4617(f) is a *jurisdictional* constraint on courts' power. As such, it can be raised at any time. But regardless of Section 4617(f)'s status as a jurisdictional limitation, FHFA properly raised it in

its Motion to Dissolve. The injunction affects FHFA (directly as well as through Fannie Mae), but FHFA was not a party to the action when Westland's motion for preliminary injunction was made, argued, and granted. When that happened, FHFA promptly intervened and, joined by Fannie Mae, moved to dissolve the injunction. The district court's refusal to do so is properly subject to appellate review.

ARGUMENT

I. Section 4617(f) Bars the Preliminary Injunction

By its plain text, Section 4617(f) bars relief that would "restrain or affect" the Conservator's exercise of its powers and functions, including the Conservator's powers to "operate" Fannie Mae and to "collect all obligations and money due" it. *See* §§ 4617(f), 4617(b)(2)(B). Accordingly, Section 4617(f) "bar[s] claims for declaratory, injunctive, and other equitable relief" where FHFA acts "within its statutory authority as conservator," thereby "explicitly limit[ing] judicial review of claims that would hamper FHFA's conduct as a conservator." *Robinson v. FHFA*, 876 F.3d 220, 227 (6th Cir. 2017). Section 4617(f) functions as an "antiinjunction clause," and effects "a sweeping ouster of courts' power to grant equitable remedies." *Id.*; *Perry Capital LLC v. Mnuchin*, 864 F.3d 591, 605 (D.C. Cir. 2017).

In enacting Section 4617(f), Congress established a policy that applies with equal force to both federal and state courts. As a Kansas state court held under the analogous Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation's ("FDIC") statute, "federal law deprives this court of jurisdiction" to order an FDIC receiver to rescind a sale of foreclosed property. *Security Sav. Bank v. Home Resort Inc.*, Nos. 103, 131, 2011 WL 2175933 (Kan. Ct. App. 2011); *see also Bobick v. Cmty.* & *Southern Bank*, 743 S.E.2d 518, 530 n.7 (Ga. Ct. App. 2013) (similar); *Stearns Bank, N.A. v. Burnes-Leverenz*, No. A11-1868, 2012 WL 3023405, at *6 (Minn. Ct. App. July 23, 2012) (similar).³

Here, the district court—apparently unaware of Section 4617(f)'s existence or its strictures—granted preliminary injunctive relief that

³ Section 4617(f) is based upon the FDIC's similar anti-injunction provision, 12 U.S.C. § 1821(j), which appears in the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act of 1989 ("FIRREA"). Courts faced with questions about Section 4617(f) therefore routinely look to cases interpreting and applying Section 1821(j) for guidance. *E.g.*, *Perry Capital*, 864 F.3d at 605-606; *Roberts v. FHFA*, 889 F.3d 397, 402-03 (7th Cir. 2018); *Jacobs v. Fed. Hous. Fin. Agency*, 908 F.3d 884, 895 (3d Cir. 2018).

Section 4617(f) precludes. The district court's subsequent refusal to dissolve the injunction under Section 4617(f) unequivocally disregarded controlling law—it did not even address the statute's substantive terms—and thereby constituted an abuse of discretion that this Court must correct.

A. The Preliminary Injunction Restrains and Affects Several of the Conservator's Core Powers

HERA "grants the FHFA expansive authority in its role as conservator." *Collins*, 141 S. Ct. at 1776. For example, the Conservator has broad statutory authority to, among other things, "operate" Fannie Mae, to "perform all functions of [Fannie Mae] in the name of [Fannie Mae]," to "collect all obligations and money due" Fannie Mae, and to take any action "appropriate to carry on the business of [Fannie Mae]." 12 U.S.C. §§ 4617(b)(2)(B), 4617(b)(2)(D). Congress also expressly provided that, as Conservator, FHFA possesses "all rights, titles, powers, and privileges . . . and assets of [Fannie Mae]." *Id.* § 4617(b)(2)(A).

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