## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

FEDERAL HOUSING FINANCE AGENCY, in its capacity as Conservator for the Federal National Mortgage Association, and FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION,

Appellants,

VS.

WESTLAND LIBERTY VILLAGE, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Company; and WESTLAND VILLAGE SQUARE, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Company,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Dec 27 2021 02:45 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Supreme Court Case No. 83695

Dist. Court Case No. A-20-819412-B

#### **ANSWERING BRIEF**

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

#### VII. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Several threshold issues make this appeal an inappropriate vehicle to reach the merits of FHFA's Anti-Injunction Clause argument. Initially, this Court lacks appellate jurisdiction to hear the appeal because, in substance, FHFA's motion to "dissolve" was actually an untimely motion for reconsideration under NRCP 59. Moreover, because FHFA filed its motion attacking the preliminary injunction at a time when Fannie Mae had already appealed the preliminary injunction to this Court, the district court lacked jurisdiction to consider FHFA's motion. The district court also ruled that FHFA's motion was untimely—a ruling that was correct and that this Court reviews only for abuse of discretion.

If the Court reaches the merits of FHFA's Anti-Injunction Clause argument, it should rule that the federal statute does not bar equitable remedies against Fannie and FHFA in this case for multiple reasons. First, with limited exceptions that do not

apply here, the Anti-Injunction Clause permits equitable remedies in breach of contract cases. Sharpe v. FDIC, 126 F.3d 1147, 1155 (9th Cir. 1997); CML-NV Grand Day, LLC v. Grand Day, LLC, 134 Nev. 925, 430 P.3d 530, 2018 WL 6016683 (2018) (unpub. disp.). Second, the Supreme Court recently ruled that FHFA's actions are covered by the Anti-Injunction Clause only if they are "necessary to put the regulated entity in a sound and solvent condition," Collins v. Yellen, 141 S. Ct. 1761, 1776 (2021) (emphasis added), a showing that FHFA does not even attempt to make. Third, FHFA cannot invoke the Anti-Injunction Clause when it admits it had no substantive involvement in the events that gave rise to this case. Suero v. Fed. Home Loan Mortg. Corp., 123 F. Supp. 3d 162, 171 (D. Mass. 2015). And fourth, the district court did not "restrain or affect" the exercise of FHFA's conservatorship powers by insisting that FHFA demonstrate a contractual basis for foreclosing on the Westland properties before actually seizing them. Abbott Bldg. Corp., Inc. v. United States, 951 F.2d 191, 194 (9th Cir. 1991).

#### VIII. ARGUMENT

- A. This Appeal is the Wrong Vehicle To Rule on the Merits of FHFA's Anti-Injunction Clause Defense.
  - 1. The Court lacks appellate jurisdiction to review the district court's denial of FHFA's motion, which in substance was an untimely motion for reconsideration under NRCP 59.

Ordinarily, this Court has jurisdiction to review a preliminary injunction only if a notice of appeal is filed within 30 days of when the preliminary injunction is

entered. NRAP 4(a)(1). If a party files a "timely" motion to alter or amend a preliminary injunction under NRCP 59, the deadline to appeal is extended to 30 days after the district court rules on that motion. NRAP 4(a)(4) (emphasis added). But to be timely, a Rule 59 motion must be filed in the district court within 28 days of service of the preliminary injunction. NRCP 59(e). FHFA filed the motion that led to the order that is the subject of this appeal *four months* after the preliminary injunction issued. Thus, FHFA's motion was untimely if it was a motion under NRCP 59, and treating FHFA's motion as an untimely Rule 59 motion—which it is—would be fatal to this Court's appellate jurisdiction.

In an attempt to avoid this jurisdictional problem, FHFA styled its motion in the district court as a motion to dissolve the preliminary injunction rather than as a motion under Rule 59. As a result, FHFA seeks to invoke this Court's appellate jurisdiction to review an order "refusing to dissolve an injunction." NRAP 3A(b)(3). But if "[a] dissatisfied litigant who . . . allowed the time to appeal to run[] need only apply for dissolution or modification to produce a new opportunity," then appeals of preliminary injunction rulings would be "open without end." Wright & Miller, Federal Practice & Procedure § 3924.2 (3d ed. 2021). To avoid creating a loophole that would allow litigants to appeal from a preliminary injunction decision at any time by filing a motion to "dissolve," the Court must look to the substance of FHFA's motion rather than its form. See Bally's Grand Hotel & Casino v. Reeves,

112 Nev. 1487, 1488, 929 P.2d 936, 937 (1996) ("This court has consistently looked past labels in interpreting NRAP 3A(b)(1)[.]").

This Court does not appear to have ever had occasion to decide how to distinguish between an untimely Rule 59 motion and a proper motion to dissolve a preliminary injunction. But when this issue is addressed under federal law, circuit courts ask whether the motion "merely seeks to relitigate the issues underlying the original preliminary injunction order" or "in substance is based on new circumstances that have arisen after the district court granted the injunction." Credit Suisse, 400 F.3d at 1124. To avoid Rule 59's time limit and provide a basis for appellate jurisdiction, the motion must identify "a change of circumstances between entry of the injunction and the filing of the motion that would render the continuance of the injunction in its original form inequitable." Favia v. Indiana Univ. of Pa., 7 F.3d 332, 337 (3d Cir. 1993). Put another way, a district court ruling is only properly characterized as "refusing to dissolve an injunction" under NRAP 3A(b)(3) if the underlying motion was based upon "significant changes in fact, law, or circumstance since the previous ruling." Gooch v. Life Invs. Ins. Co., 672 F.3d 402, 414-15 (6th Cir. 2012); see also Aevoe Corp. v. AE Tech Co., 2012 WL 760692, at \*2 (D. Nev. March 7, 2012) ("AE Tech does not discuss any new circumstances that have arisen after the original order that would justify the Court's consideration to vacate the order. Accordingly, the Court will apply the motion for reconsideration standard

under Rule 59(e) to the instant motion to determine whether or not to vacate the preliminary injunction.").

FHFA does not deny that its Section 4617(f) argument could have been raised during the original preliminary injunction proceedings. Thus, because FHFA's motion did not identify any "new circumstances that have arisen after the district court granted the injunction," *Credit Suisse*, 400 F.3d at 1124, it was in substance an untimely Rule 59 motion.

FHFA makes several arguments to the contrary, but none are persuasive. First, FHFA contends that Section 4617(f) is jurisdictional and that the Court may hear this appeal because the district court exceeded its jurisdiction when it entered the preliminary injunction. But even before deciding whether the district court had jurisdiction over the proceedings below, this Court must first assure itself of its own appellate jurisdiction. The question whether this Court has appellate jurisdiction "is antecedent to all other questions, including the question of the subject matter [jurisdiction] of the District Court." In re Lang, 414 F.3d 1191, 1195–96 (10th Cir. 2005); see also Petroleos Mexicanos Refinacion v. M/T KING A, 377 F.3d 329, 333 n. 4 (3d Cir. 2004) (declining to reach appellant's challenge to district court's subject matter jurisdiction because appeals court lacked appellate jurisdiction); RTC v. Sonny's Old Land Corp., 937 F.2d 128, 129 (5th Cir. 1991) ("Before addressing the district court's jurisdiction on removal, we must decide our own jurisdiction."). Even if FHFA were correct that Section 4617(f) is jurisdictional (it is not), that would not provide a basis for this Court to hear an appeal triggered by the denial of an untimely Rule 59 motion.

Second, FHFA argues that Rule 59's time limits do not apply when a motion raises "new matter not considered when the injunction was first issued" and that its Section 4617(f) defense qualifies as a "new matter" because no one raised it during the original preliminary injunction proceedings. OB at 59 (quoting *Sierra On-Line, Inc. v. Phoenix Software, Inc.*, 739 F.2d 1415, 1419 n.4 (9th Cir. 1984)). Despite FHFA's suggestion to the contrary, an argument that could have been raised during the original preliminary injunction proceedings but that counsel overlooked is not a "new matter" within the meaning of the cases upon which FHFA relies. Indeed, as one of FHFA's own cases explains, "[a] party seeking modification or dissolution of an injunction bears the burden of establishing that *a significant change in facts or law* warrants revision or dissolution of the injunction." *Sharp v. Weston*, 233 F.3d 1166, 1170 (9th Cir. 2000) (emphasis added).

Third, FHFA attempts to fit this case within a narrow exception to the rules described above that the Ninth Circuit has recognized in cases where an intervenor attacks a preliminary injunction that was entered before it became a party to the case. *See Alto v. Black*, 738 F.3d 1111, 1120 (9th Cir. 2013). As an initial matter, the Ninth Circuit's decision in *Alto* is wrong because it effectively allows a district court, by

granting a motion to intervene, to extend the deadline for filing a Rule 59(e) motion. See NRCP 6(b)(2) ("A court must not extend the time to act under . . . Rule 59(b), (d), and (e)."). The Ninth Circuit in *Alto* did not explain how its decision could be reconciled with Rule 6(b)(2), and it does not appear to have received adversarial briefing on this issue.

But even if this Court follows *Alto*, that case is distinguishable. It was critical to the outcome in *Alto* that the appealing intervenor had "no prior opportunity to challenge the grant of the injunction." 738 F.3d at 1120. The same cannot be said for FHFA, which controls Fannie Mae. Indeed, FHFA recently told this Court that "everything Fannie Mae does is an act of the conservator because the conservator is the legal successor to Fannie Mae." Oral Argument Audio in No. 82666, at 8:12–20 (Nov. 4, 2021). Taking it at its word, FHFA could have acted through Fannie Mae and raised its Section 4617(f) defense during the original preliminary injunction proceedings or by filing a timely Rule 59(e) motion within 28 days of when the preliminary injunction issued. FHFA's failure to do so takes this case outside the rule of *Alto* and deprives this Court of appellate jurisdiction.

Alto is also distinguishable for another reason. The intervenor in that case filed its motion to dissolve the preliminary injunction on the same day that it moved to intervene in the district court. Here, in contrast, FHFA moved to intervene on March 26, 2021, and the district court granted FHFA's motion on April 26, 2021. But

FHFA waited to file its motion to dissolve the preliminary injunction until June 14, 2021—well beyond the 28-day deadline that Rule 59(e) establishes, even under the generous assumption that time began to run from when FHFA's intervention motion was granted.<sup>8</sup>

Because the Court lacks jurisdiction to hear this appeal, the appeal should be dismissed.

2. Fannie Mae's pending appeal of the preliminary injunction deprived the district court of jurisdiction to rule on FHFA's motion.

Even if the Court concludes that it has appellate jurisdiction, there is a second jurisdictional reason why the Court should not reach the merits of FHFA's Section 4617(f) argument in this appeal: FHFA filed its motion to dissolve at a time when the district court did not have jurisdiction to consider it. It is a bedrock principle of Nevada law that "the perfection of an appeal divests the district court of jurisdiction

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> After FHFA was allowed to intervene, the parties continued to dispute the scope of FHFA's intervention and, on May 6, 2021, a hearing was held specifically addressing whether FHFA's intervention motion was timely insofar as the agency sought to attack the preliminary injunction. The district court ruled at the hearing that it would not narrow the scope of FHFA's intervention at that time, but that the ruling was without prejudice to such objections being raised in future motions. The ruling was embodied in an order entered on June 11, 2021, specifying that FHFA was allowed to intervene "without prejudice to [Westland's] . . . procedural contention[]" that FHFA had waited too long to challenge the preliminary injunction. APP3028-APP3037. The district court ultimately determined that FHFA's challenge to the preliminary injunction was untimely, which is yet another basis to distinguish *Alto*.

to act except with regard to matters collateral to or independent from the appealed order." Foster v. Dingwall, 126 Nev. 49, 52, 228 P.3d 453, 455 (2010); cf. Griggs v. Provident Consumer Discount Co., 459 U.S. 56, 58 (1982) (filing of notice of appeal in federal court "is an event of jurisdictional significance"). When FHFA filed its motion to dissolve, Fannie Mae had already appealed the preliminary injunction to this Court, and that appeal remains pending. FHFA's motion obviously was not "collateral to or independent from" the preliminary injunction that is the subject of Fannie Mae's appeal. Id. Thus, the district court lacked jurisdiction to rule on FHFA's motion.

In the proceedings below, FHFA responded to this jurisdictional argument by relying on a line of federal cases that says a trial court may modify a preliminary injunction despite a pending appeal when doing so is necessary "to maintain the status quo among the parties." *Prudential Real Estate Affiliates, Inc. v. PPR Realty, Inc.*, 204 F.3d 867, 880 (9th Cir. 2000); *see also Coastal Corp. v. Tex. E. Corp.*, 869 F.2d 817, 820 (5th Cir. 1989); *Ideal Toy Corp. v. Sayco Doll Corp.*, 302 F.2d 623, 625 (2d Cir. 1962). But dissolving the preliminary injunction would do the opposite of maintain the status quo. The relief FHFA sought in the district court would have allowed Fannie Mae to immediately foreclose on the Westland properties, stripping the current owners of possession of the buildings, causing the nearly three dozen Westland employees who work in the buildings to lose their jobs, and placing a cloud

of uncertainty over the future of two residential communities that Westland has done much to rehabilitate after years of mismanagement by the previous owners. Setting in motion those real-world consequences would not preserve the status quo but dramatically alter it. *See McClatchy Newspapers v. Central Valley Typographical Union No. 46*, 686 F.2d 731, 735 (9th Cir. 1982) ("[B]y ordering the publisher to reinstate employees who were not working when the appeal was filed, the amended judgment required a change from the status quo.").

Nevertheless, FHFA claimed that dissolving the preliminary injunction would preserve the status quo because Section 4617(f) renders the preliminary injunction "void ab initio." Putting aside for the moment the merits of FHFA's Section 4617(f) defense, this argument fundamentally misunderstands the scope of a district court's authority to modify an injunction that is the subject of a pending appeal. As the leading federal civil procedure treatise explains, district courts retain jurisdiction during a pending appeal to preserve the status quo "in aid of the appellate court's jurisdiction." Wright & Miller, Federal Practice & Procedure § 3949.1 (3d ed. 2021). In other words, to establish the district court's jurisdiction pending appeal, FHFA had the burden to demonstrate that its requested relief would "neither change] the status quo ... nor materially alter the status of the appeal." Mayweathers v. Newland, 258 F.3d 930, 935 (9th Cir. 2001) (emphasis added); see also Coastal Corp., 869 F.2d at 820 ("[T]he powers of the district court over an injunction

pending appeal should be limited to maintaining the status quo and ought not to extend to the point that the district court can divest the court of appeals from jurisdiction while the issue is before us on appeal.") (emphasis added).

Far from seeking relief that would facilitate this Court's consideration of Fannie Mae's appeal, the relief FHFA sought through its motion would moot Fannie Mae's appeal. It necessarily follows that the district court lacked jurisdiction to entertain FHFA's motion.<sup>9</sup>

## 3. The district court did not abuse its discretion in ruling that FHFA's motion was untimely.

There is still another reason why the Court need not reach the merits of FHFA's Section 4617(f) defense in this appeal: the district court correctly ruled that FHFA's motion was untimely because the preliminary injunction "was issued after extensive development of the issues in this Court and is now the subject of extensive litigation in the pending appeal." APP3445-APP3454. As FHFA acknowledges, the district court's decision is subject to review by this Court only for abuse of

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